IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-CA-00232

PATRICIA JONES SPANN

APPELLANT

V.

GERALD J. DIAZ, JR., P.A.

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRUCIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT THE HONORABLE BOBBY DELAUGHTER

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Philip W. Thomas (MB No. Philip W. Thomas, P.A. Post Office Box 24464 Jackson, Mississippi 39225 747 North Congress Street Jackson, Mississippi 39202

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT PATRICIA JONES SPANN

I. CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES										
	v.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE4										
		Α.	Proce	edings l	Below.	4						
		В.	Statement of the Facts9									
	VII.	SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT1										
	VIII.	ARGU	UMENT18									
		Α.			raived its Motion for Summary Judgment under MS r, Inc. v. Horton18							
		В.	The S	ations did not expire on Plaintiff's Claim23								
			1.			d a fiduciary relationship with the Spann23						
			2.	Diaz P.A. Fraudulently Concealed the Claim.								
				a.		P.A. Concealed the Unaltered Telephone cript25						
				b.		P.A. Failed to Disclose Material26						
					(i.)	Failure to Disclose Dilatory Conduct						

			Negligence27
		c.	Patricia Spann Exercised Due Diligence28
		d.	Summary of Fraudulent Concealment Argument31
	3.		Discovery Rule Tolled the Statute of tations31
		a.	Diaz P.A.'s Malpractice was Secretive31
		b.	It is Not Reasonable to Expect Laymen to Perceive Concealed Legal Malpractice32
	4.		Minimum, there were Fact Questions that Precluded mary Judgment34
IX.	CONCLUSION		36
Χ.	CERTIFICATE OF S	SERVI	ICE37

B. Table of Authorities

1. Cases

Century 21 Maselle and Associates, Inc. v. Smith, 2007 WL 2325271 (Miss. 2007)22
Channel v. Loyaconno, 954 So. 2d 415 (Miss. 2007)25, 31, 32
Circle Chevrolet Co. v. Giordano, Halleran & Ciesla, 142 N.J. 280, 662 A.2d 509 (N.J. 1995)
East Mississippi State Mental Hospital v. Brown 947 So. 2d 887 (Miss. 2007)20
Flores v. Elmer, 938 So. 2d 824 (Miss. 2006)15
McCain v. Memphis Hardwood Flooring Co., 725 So. 2d 788 (Miss. 1998)31
Mississippi Bar v. Land, 620 So. 2d 1213 (Miss. 1993)6
Mississippi Bar v. Mathis, 620 So. 2d 1213 (Miss. 1993)6
MS Credit Center, Inc. v. Horton, 926 So. 2d 167 (Miss. 2006)
Neglin v. Breazeale, 945 So. 2d 988 (Miss. 2006)
Nofsinger v. Irby, 961 So. 2d 778 (Miss. 2007)
Olds v. Donnelly, 150 N.J. 424, 696 A.2d 633 (N.J. 1997)
Rawson v. Jones, 816 So. 2d 367 (Miss. 2001)
Reich v. Jesco, Inc., 526 So. 2d 550 (Miss. 1998)25
Robinson v. Cobb, 763 So. 2d 883 (Miss. 2000)25
Simpson v. Lovelace, 892 So. 2d 284 (Miss. App. 2004)
Smith v. Orman, 822 So. 2d 975 (Miss. 2002)24
Smith v. Sneed, 638 So. 2d 1252 (Miss. 1994)23, 31, 34, 35
SRC Holding Corp., 364 B.R. 1 (D. Minn. 2007)27
Staheli v. Smith, 548 So. 2d 1299 (Miss. 1989)31

Stephens v. Equitable Life Assurance Society of U.S., 850 So.2d 78 (Miss. 2003)25, 29
Van Zandt v. Van Zandt, 86 So. 2d 466 (Miss. 1956)24
Warren v. Horace Mann Life Ins. Co., 949 So. 2d 770 (Miss. App. 2006)29
Watts v. Horace Mann Life Ins. Co., 949 So. 2d 833 (Miss. App. 2006)29
Whitten v. Whitten, 956 So. 2d 1093 (Miss. 2007)21
2. Other Authorities
2 Mallen, Ronald E. & Jeffrey M. Smith, LegalMalpractice §14.22 (2007 ed.))27

III. INTRODUCTION

Gerald J. Diaz P.A. ("Diaz P.A.") obtained the Spann family's medical malpractice case in 1994 as a referral from another lawyer. For the next year and a half Diaz P.A. did not investigate the case or even contact the Spann family. Instead, the firm did nothing and then filed suit on the eve of the expiration of the statute of limitations. Diaz P.A. waited another eight months to have the case reviewed by an expert because the firm would not pay the expert's \$400.00 fee. Once Diaz P.A. paid the expert's fee and talked to her, it learned that it sued the wrong doctor.

Diaz P.A. joined the new doctor as a defendant and obtained a \$600,000 judgment against him. But the Mississippi Supreme Court reversed and rendered based on the statute of limitations. In the meantime, Diaz P.A. never notified the Spann family of the facts underlying the firm's dilatory conduct or the fact that the firm was negligent in handling the family's case. For instance, Diaz P.A. never told the family that it obtained the case in 1994—a year and a half before filing suit. A former Diaz P.A. attorney notified Patricia Spann of the firm's malpractice in May 2005—three years after the Supreme Court denied rehearing on the family's case. Mrs. Spann immediately sought legal counsel and filed suit for legal malpractice and breach of fiduciary duty. Plaintiff filed this action immediately upon being notified of her claim, which was three years and three days after the Supreme Court denied the motion for rehearing in the underlying case.

This case involves an admission of legal malpractice by a former employee of Diaz P.A. and affirmative acts of concealment by the firm. The affirmative acts of concealment consisted of both material misrepresentations and the failure to disclose

material facts as required in a fiduciary relationship. The trial court granted Diaz P.A.'s motion for summary judgment finding that the statute of limitations had expired. In doing so, the trial court refused to apply the waiver doctrine in *MS Credit Center*, *Inc. v. Horton* and found that Mrs. Spann should have discovered the claim sooner.

The trial court was incorrect in both respects. *MS Credit* applies in this case because Diaz P.A.'s motion for summary judgment was based on its statute of limitations affirmative defense, but not filed until after both a lengthy delay and voluntary participation in discovery. In addition, the fraudulent concealment doctrine and discovery rules tolled the statute of limitations because Diaz P.A. failed to disclose its negligence and other material facts and Mrs. Spann acted diligently to discover the claim.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Does the existence of a scheduling order negate the waiver of affirmative defenses doctrine set forth in MS Credit Center, Inc. v. Horton?
- 2. Was the statute of limitations tolled for three days where the defendant law firm did not disclose that it was negligent or the facts underlying the law firm's negligence?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Proceedings Below.

In May 2005—after representing the Spann family for years—Diaz P.A. fired the family as clients and stated that the firm would no longer perform their chancery court work. Patricia Spann contacted John Giddens (a former Diaz P.A. attorney) to perform the family's chancery court work. When Mrs. Spann contacted John Giddens, he told her that Diaz P.A. made mistakes in handling her family's medical malpractice action that concluded three years earlier. John Giddens met with Mrs. Spann and suggested that she contact the family's current attorney, who met with her and filed suit against Diaz P.A. the same day as their initial meeting: May 26, 2005.

Plaintiff's Complaint alleged claims for negligence/ legal malpractice; fraudulent concealment; breach of contract; breach of fiduciary duty and breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing.⁵ On August 15, 2005, Diaz P.A. filed its Answer to the Complaint.⁶ Diaz P.A.'s second affirmative defense was that "[t]his action is barred by the Mississippi Statutes of Limitations."⁷

¹ Record ("R.") at 272 (Patricia Spann depo. at p. 71).

² Id.

³ R. at 273 (Spann depo. at pp. 75-76).

⁴ R. 4 (Complaint); R. 257 (Spann depo. at p. 10); R. 273 (Spann depo. at pp. 75-76).

⁵ R. 6-8 (Complaint).

⁶ R. 10. (Diaz P.A.'s Answer).

⁷ Id.

On September 16, 2005, Diaz P.A. noticed the deposition of Patricia Spann and propounded written discovery.⁸ On September 30, 2005, Diaz P.A. produced for inspection its entire file for the underlying medical malpractice action at the office of Diaz P.A.⁹ Defense counsel did not attend the inspection.¹⁰ A subsequent detailed review of documents flagged for copying at the inspection revealed evidence of affirmative acts of concealment perpetrated by Diaz P.A. in the underlying action.

Plaintiff counsel's investigation revealed that Diaz P.A. removed language from a telephone call transcript that showed that Diaz P.A. was dilatory in having the underlying case reviewed by expert witnesses. Diaz P.A. deleted from the transcript language that showed that there was an extended delay in the expert's review because Diaz P.A. did not pay the expert's retainer and that she thought that they had given up. Pecifically, the altered transcript deleted the following language:

KW: I'm sorry I didn't get back to you sooner and I'm sorry it took me so long to get around to getting you paid so you could, you know, undertake the case.

CW: Well, I was about to forget it. I thought you had given up.

KW: Well, no, I have not given up. I hope you will give me reason to continue not to give up, if you follow that.

⁸ R. 1 (contained in Plaintiffs Record Excerpts ("R.E.") at tab 1).

⁹ R. 17.

¹⁰ R. 18.

¹¹ Compare R. 362-369 (unaltered transcript) to R. 370-376 (altered transcript).

¹² Id.; R. 236 (Joey Diaz depo. at pp. 66-67).

CW: Yeah, I do. 13

This language was important because Diaz P.A. argued to the trial court that it timely named the neonatologist (Dr. Rawson) as a defendant. Diaz P.A. tendered the altered transcript as a complete copy to support its argument that it timely named Dr. Rawson as a defendant. 15

Diaz P.A. contends that the work product doctrine allowed it to selectively redact language from the transcript without notifying opposing counsel. This contention contradicts this Court's decisions in *Mississippi Bar v. Land* and *Mississippi Bar v. Mathis*, where lawyers were suspended for cherry-picking evidence disclosed in discovery. Regardless, it is undisputed that Diaz P.A. concealed the full transcript from the Plaintiff. 19

With its fraudulent concealment exposed, Diaz P.A. refused to permit the reinspection of its file.²⁰ Plaintiff filed a motion to compel, which the court granted.²¹

¹³ R. 362. A small amount of additional language that is not relevant in this case was also redacted.

¹⁴ See Rawson v. Jones, 816 So. 2d 367, 369 (Miss. 2001)(arguing that Dr. Rawson was a fictitious party under Miss. R. Civ. P. 9(h)).

¹⁵ R. 236 (Diaz depo. at p. 67).

¹⁶ R. 236 (Diaz depo. at pp. 66-67).

¹⁷ 653 So. 2d 899 (Miss. 1994).

¹⁸ 620 So. 2d 1213 (Miss. 1993).

¹⁹ R. 379 (R.E. tab 3) (Affidavit of Patricia Spann at ¶ 11).

²⁰ R. 23.

²¹ R. 58.

Unlike at the first inspection, Diaz P.A.'s counsel watched Plaintiff's counsel look at documents during the second inspection and later forced Plaintiff (who is a Jackson teacher's assistant) to reimburse Diaz P.A. over \$800.00 in attorney's fees incurred by having counsel watch the document review.²²

On October 14, 2005, Diaz P.A. took the deposition of Patricia Spann.²³ Diaz P.A. did not take any other depositions in the entire case. On November 10, 2005, the Court entered a Scheduling Order and Peremptory Trial Setting that Diaz P.A. agreed to.²⁴ The Order set the trial for November 27, 2006, the discovery deadline for September 15, 2006 and the motion deadline for October 2, 2006.²⁵

On February 8, 2006 Plaintiff filed a Motion to Allow Filing of her First Amended Complaint.²⁶ The proposed Amended Complaint did not plead any new theories or add any new parties.²⁷ It simply pleaded Plaintiff's allegations in greater detail.²⁸ Diaz P.A. opposed the motion arguing that the amendment would prejudice it by necessitating new discovery.²⁹

²² R. 101.

²³ R. 255.

²⁴ R. 25-26.

²⁵ Id.

²⁶ R. 59.

²⁷ R. 61-78.

²⁸ Id.

²⁹ R. 93.

Plaintiff deposed Gerald (Joey) Diaz on March 22, 2006.³⁰ On April 7, 2006, the Court granted the motion for leave to amend and held that Diaz P.A. was permitted to conduct discovery as to the new allegations contained in the Amended Complaint.³¹ Diaz P.A. conducted no additional discovery after the amendment despite its prior argument that it would be severely prejudiced if it did not conduct additional discovery.

On May 18, 2006, Plaintiff deposed Kenny Womack, the former Diaz P.A. associate who was involved in the altered phone transcript.³² On June 25, 2006, Plaintiff designated her expert witnesses with the substance of their opinions.³³ On July 17, 2006, Diaz P.A. designated its expert witness and opinions.³⁴ On July 19, 2006, Diaz P.A. filed its "motion for judgment on the pleadings and/or motion for summary judgment."³⁵ The motion was based on both Rules 12 and 56.³⁶ The trial court granted the motion for summary judgment on November 15, 2006.³⁷ Plaintiff timely appealed the action to this Court.³⁸

³⁰ R. 220.

³¹ R. 103.

³² R. 278 (Womack depo.).

³³ R. 145.

³⁴ R. 159.

³⁵ R. 165.

³⁶ Id.

³⁷ R. 455.

³⁸ R. 462.

B. Statement of the Facts.

On April 8, 1994, Timothy Spann, Jr. died as a result of meconium aspiration in the nursery at Methodist Medical Center.³⁹ On November 30, 1994, Patricia Spann's attorney (Arnold Dyre)—acting on her behalf—sent a letter to Joey Diaz with the medical records requesting that they work together on an associated basis.⁴⁰ When Joey Diaz received the letter he opened a file, assigned the case a file number, placed the statute of limitations on the firm's "tickler" system and assigned the case to attorney Kenny Womack.⁴¹

A year and a half later on April 8, 1996, Diaz P.A.'s tickler system notified Kenny Womack that the statute of limitations was about to expire on the Spanns' claim. 42 Mr. Womack was distressed that the statute of limitations was about to expire. 43 Mr. Womack hurriedly drafted a one page complaint and filed it that same day. 44 Afterwards, Mr. Womack asked John Giddens for sample complaints used by Giddens in other medical malpractice cases to use as a guide. 45 Womack then filed an amended complaint on April 9, 1996 that was longer than the original complaint, but that named the same

³⁹ R. 5.

⁴⁰ R. 326-27 (Arnold Dyre's letter).

⁴¹ R. 229 (Diaz depo. at pp. 39-45).

⁴² R. 230-31 (Diaz depo. at pp. 42-45).

 $^{^{43}}$ R. 395 (R.E. tab 4) (Affidavit of John Giddens at \P 3).

⁴⁴ Id. at ¶ 4; R. 341 (one page Complaint).

⁴⁵ R. 395 (R.E. tab 4) (Giddens' affidavit at ¶ 5).

defendants.⁴⁶ Neither complaint named as a defendant Dr. Rawson, who was Timothy Spann, Jr.'s treating neonatologist.⁴⁷

There is no evidence in Diaz P.A.'s file indicating that the firm worked on Plaintiff's case between November 1994 and April 8, 1996. On April 11, 1996 Kenny Womack for the first time sent the medical records to someone in an attempt to identify expert witnesses for the case. The cover letter does not indicate that a copy was provided to Patricia Spann. Womack's letter included the statement that "we have already filed suit so I am under a great deal of pressure to come up with a colorable argument that there was negligence on the part of someone so as to avoid any 'Rule 11' problems."

On May 2, 1996 Mr. Womack sent defense attorney Walter Johnson a copy of the medical records that Arnold Dyre sent to Joey Diaz in 1994.⁵¹ There is no evidence in the file indicating that the firm made any effort to contact the Spann family until May 14, 1996—over a month after filing suit. On that date a legal assistant sent Mrs. Spann a letter stating that she tried to call her that day and that the firm filed a lawsuit "on your

⁴⁶ R. 342 (Amended Complaint).

⁴⁷ See id.

⁴⁸ R. 347 (April 11, 1996 letter from Womack to Garry Smith).

⁴⁹ Id.

⁵⁰ Id.

⁵¹ R. 349 (May 2, 1996 letter from Womack to Walter Johnson). Patricia Spann was not copied on the letter. Id.

behalf regarding the Estate of Timothy Spann."⁵² On June 13, 1996 Mr. Womack met with Mr. and Mrs. Spann and they signed contingency fee contracts.⁵³

On June 27, 1996 Kenny Womack wrote a letter to Anthony Brancazio asking for the names of expert witnesses in OB and neonatology.⁵⁴ On June 28, 1996, Mr. Brancazio gave Mr. Womack the name of Dr. Corine Walentik as a neonatologist.⁵⁵ The same day, Womack submitted a check request for Dr. Walentik's \$400.00 retainer fee and stated that he needed the check "ASAP."⁵⁶ On July 16, 1996 Womack submitted a second check request again requesting the check "ASAP."⁵⁷ The same day Womack requested that Joey Diaz approve the issuance of the \$400.00 check for Dr. Walentik from the "Colortile fee payment."⁵⁸ Diaz P.A.'s file contains two original yet never-mailed letters from Womack to Dr. Walentik enclosing the \$400.00 that were dated July 16, 1996 and September 5, 1996.⁵⁹ Apparently, Womack was eager to mail the records, but could not get the check disbursed.

⁵² R. 350.

⁵³ R. 351.

⁵⁴ R. 353.

⁵⁵ R. 354.

⁵⁶ R. 355.

⁵⁷ R. 356.

⁵⁸ Id.

⁵⁹ R. 358-59.

In the meantime, on August 2, 1996 the firm's OB expert informed Womack that the treating OB defendant complied with the standard of care. ⁶⁰ Between August 2, 1996 and January 10, 1997 Diaz P.A. continued to litigate the case without expert opinions against any defendant. This is a significant point with respect to the fraudulent concealment issue in this case because the firm later argued that they could not file suit against Dr. Rawson without expert opinions. ⁶¹ Diaz P.A. knew that its argument was untrue, since the firm filed suit against the two original defendants with no experts. Diaz P.A. never notified Plaintiff that the actual facts were inconsistent with the legal arguments made in the underlying case.

Finally, on January 2, 1997, Womack sent the \$400.00 retainer check to Dr. Walentik for her review.⁶² Dr. Walentik reviewed the case and concluded that Dr. Rawson was negligent. Dr. Walentik gave her opinions in a January 10, 1997 telephone conversation with Mr. Womack that he recorded and had transcribed.⁶³ During the conversation Womack apologized for the firm's delay in issuing the check so Dr. Walentik could review the case.⁶⁴

On January 10, 1997, the Diaz firm filed a Motion for Leave to File Second Amended Complaint so that the neonatologist (Dr. Rawson) could be added as a defendant. The Motion was granted on July 8, 1997 and Dr. Rawson was added to the

⁶⁰ R. 360. Diaz P.A. had the case reviewed by the OB because he did not require a retainer fee in advance.

⁶¹ In 1997 Mississippi law did not require expert consultation before filing suit.

⁶² R. 361.

⁶³ R. 362-69.

⁶⁴ R. 362.

case. Dr. Rawson argued that the statute of limitations expired before he was named as a defendant. To support Plaintiff's arguments, Diaz P.A. submitted to the trial court an altered version of the January 10, 1997 telephone transcript.⁶⁵ The altered transcript deleted the fact that Diaz P.A. delayed sending the retainer check to Dr. Walentik.⁶⁶ Such delays were common in the firm due to the lack of funds or credit.⁶⁷

On October 9, 1998 a Hinds County jury awarded the Spanns \$1,000,000.00, which was offset to \$600,000.00 due to a \$400,000.00 settlement with Methodist Hospital. That night, lawyers from Diaz P.A. had a celebratory dinner at Tico's Steakhouse and charged the \$608.00 bill to the Spann family as a case expense. In an opinion dated June 28, 2001—but which did not become final until rehearing was denied on May 23, 2002—the Mississippi Supreme Court reversed the jury verdict and rendered the case on the grounds that the statute of limitations had expired. On June 10, 2002, Patricia and Timothy Spann met with Joey Diaz regarding the Supreme Court's denial of rehearing and Mr. Diaz told them that the case was over.

During the course of the litigation Patricia Spann knew that the statute of limitations was an issue in the case. But Patricia Spann did not know the following: (1)

⁶⁵ R. 370-376; R. 236 (Diaz depo. at p. 66).

⁶⁶ Compare R. 370 (altered) to R. 362 (unaltered).

⁶⁷ R. 395 (R.E. tab 4) (Giddens affidavit at ¶ 9).

⁶⁸ R. 377. The Spann family reimbursed Diaz P.A. for the Tico's bill from proceeds from their settlement with Methodist Hospital.

⁶⁹ See Rawson v. Jones, 816 So. 2d 367 (Miss. 2001).

⁷⁰ R. 243-44 (Diaz depo. at pp. 96-97).

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