IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-CA-00232

PATRICIA JONES SPANN APPELLANT

Versus

GERALD J. DIAZ, JR., P.A. APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

BRIEF OF APPELLEE GERALD J. DIAZ, JR., P.A.

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

J. ROBERT RAMSAY (MSB RAMSAY & HAMMOND, PLLC 106 Madison Plaza, Ste. B (39402) Post Office Box 16567 Hattiesburg, MS 39404-6567 (601) 264-4499 (601) 264-5588 (fax)

Counsel for Appellee Gerald J. Diaz, Jr., P.A.

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-CA-00232

PATRICIA JONES SPANN

APPELLANT

VS.

GERALD J. DIAZ, JR., P.A.

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court of Hinds County Mississippi did not err in finding Spann's claims against the Defendant Firm were barred by the statute of limitations and entering summary judgment in favor of the Defendant Firm. The **only** facts and/or issues not in dispute and relevant to this appeal are as follows: (1) that Spann's cause of action accrued at the latest on May 23, 2002; (2) that Spann filed her Complaint three years and three days after her cause of action accrued and after the expiration of the statute of limitations; (3) that the discovery rule does not save her claims as her injury was not latent; (4) that there is no evidence of fraudulent concealment that would save Spann's claim; and (5) that the Defendant Firm did not waive its right to bring forth its Motion for Summary Judgment and is entitled to have the Judgment in its' favor affirmed.

MISS. CODE ANN. § 15-1-49 governs legal malpractice claims and requires that a legal malpractice claim be filed "within three (3) years next after the cause of such action accrued, and not after." MISS. CODE ANN. § 15-1-49. Spann admits her cause of action accrued no later than

May 23, 2002. (Spann Brief at p. 25). She filed her action against the Defendant Firm on May 26, 2005 - nine (9) years and one (1) month after the alleged wrongful act/omission occurred; almost four (4) years after the this Court published its decision in Rawson v. Jones setting out the course of the underlying action herein; three (3) years and three (3) days after this Court denied rehearing; and three (3) years and two (2) days after Mr. Diaz informed her that rehearing was denied, and that they had lost. Spann's claim is barred by the statute of limitations.

Spann erroneously argues that the discovery rule saves her claims. However, the Mississippi legislature has made clear, that the discovery rule only applies to actions that involve latent injury. Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49 (2). See also, <u>PPG Architecture Finishes, Inc. v. Lowery</u>, 909 So. 2d 47, 50 (¶11) (Miss. 2005). Thus, if a latent injury is *not* present, the discovery rule does not apply. <u>Id.</u> There was nothing latent about Spann's alleged injury—the Mississippi Supreme Court published its decision in <u>Rawson v. Jones</u>, setting forth that Spann, through her attorneys, failed to properly file a lawsuit against Dr. Rawson within the time period allowed for such action and reversed the \$600,000 judgment.

Spann contends that she was not aware that she had a legal malpractice claim until Mr. Diaz's former law partner Giddens labeled the Defendant Firm's action "negligent," and she became aware that the Defendant Firm had had a portion of the medical records since late 1994, and that this lack of knowledge precluded her from discovering her cause of action. It is not necessary under the discovery rule that a would-be plaintiff know every detail or fact connected to her potential claim; nor does a would-be plaintiff need to be absolutely certain that she has a cause of action. First Trust Nat'l Assn. v. First Nat'l Bank of Commerce, 220 F.3d 331, 337 (5th Cir. 2000). Rather, the statute of limitations began to run once Plaintiff was "on inquiry that a potential claim exists." Id. To claim the benefit of the discovery rule, "a plaintiff must be reasonably diligent in investigating the circumstances surrounding the injury." Wayne General

Hospital v. Hayes, 868 So. 2d 997, 1001 (Miss. 2004) ¶15, overruled on other grounds. Spann came forward with no evidence (nor could she) reflecting any type of investigation into the alleged negligence of the Defendant Firm before or after the Supreme Court's published decision in Rawson v. Jones in June 2001 and/or the denial of the Motion for Rehearing. Spann was armed with sufficient information by virtue of the Supreme Court's published decision to be on notice or inquiry that a potential claim existed, even if she did not know with certainty that the conduct was "legally negligent". See Hayes, 868 So.2d at ¶15.

Spann's fraudulent concealment theory fails as a matter of law for three (3) independent reasons: (1) the doctrine of fraudulent concealment does not apply to claims, such as the instant claim, that are based on matters of public record; (2) Spann could not satisfy her burden of proving that the Defendant Firm engaged in an affirmative act of concealment and that Spann acted with due diligence in attempting to discover the alleged negligence but was unable to do so; and (3) Spann had all of the information that she needed to be on notice or inquiry that a potential malpractice claim existed long before her conversation with Mr. Giddens.

Spann's action stems from this Court's *published* decision on June 28, 2001 in <u>Rawson v.</u>

Jones and *published denial* of the Petition for Rehearing on May 24, 2002, both matters of public record as to which the fraudulent concealment doctrine does not apply. O'Neal Steele, Inc. v. Millette, 797 So.2d 869 (Miss. 2001). Under Mississippi law, in order to invoke fraudulent concealment as an exception to the statute of limitations, Spann must first have demonstrated that the Defendant Firm engaged in affirmative acts of concealment and that Spann acted with due diligence in attempting to discover the alleged negligence of the Defendant but was unable to do so. <u>Sanderson Farms, Inc. v. Ballard, 917 So.2d 783 (Miss. 2005)</u> (citations omitted). Spann failed to identify any affirmative act on the part of the Defendant Firm to conceal the fact that Dr. Rawson and the Neonatal Group were named after the applicable statute of limitations

expired. To the contrary, the irrefutable evidence is that, **throughout the litigation**, Spann was advised that there were problems with the case against Dr. Rawson in that Dr. Rawson had been added late and outside the statute of limitations.

Spann failed to identify any action she took to obtain any of the allegedly concealed information. To the contrary upon receiving a copy of the <u>Rawson</u> decision and learning that Rehearing had been denied, Spann did not take a single action toward discovering any claims she may have against the Defendant Firm for four (4) years before filing this suit. Spann's attempt to cite a redacted transcript of a telephone conversation that occurred in 1997 as evidence of the Defendant Firm's "fraudulent concealment" is a red herring and fails for the simple reason that it is not some obscure piece of irrelevant evidence that is purportedly "concealed" which satisfies the fraudulent concealment exception. Rather, it is the **cause of action** itself. <u>Channel v. Loyacono</u>, 954 So. 2d 415 (Miss. 2007) (¶29)

The Defendant Firm did not waive its right to move for summary judgment on the basis of the expiration of the Statute of Limitations. Spann's waiver argument is contrary to the Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure Rule 56 and to the Scheduling Order that this Court entered in this case. Rule 56 governs motions for summary judgment and specifically provides that "[a] party against whom a claim ... is asserted ... may, at any time" move for summary judgment. Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(b) (emphasis added). Moreover, at the outset of the instant case, this Court issued a Scheduling Order, to which Spann specifically agreed and which specifically mandated that "all motions with the exception of motions in limine shall be filed with this Court on or before October 2, 2006". The Defendant Firm filed its motion two and one half months in advance of this deadline. Accepting Spann's waiver argument would lead to the grossly unfair result of having a Trial Court impose a specific deadline for filing dispositive motions then rule that such a motion filed in compliance with its deadline was untimely.

Spann's reliance on MS Credit Center, Inc. v. Horton, 926 So.2d 167 (Miss. 2006), is misplaced. In stark contrast to the defendant in MS Credit who moved to compel arbitration after substantially engaging in the litigation process, the Defendant Firm's participation in this litigation was not inconsistent with its right to move for summary judgment, but rather was in furtherance of this right. The Supreme Court in MS Credit did not intend to require immediate motions on affirmative defenses that require factual development such as the defenses raised in the Defendant Firm's motion. Further, the holding in MS Credit upon which Spann relies is that "a defendant's failure to timely and reasonably raise and pursue the enforcement of any affirmative defense or other affirmative matter or right which would serve to terminate or stay the litigation coupled with active participation in the litigation process will ordinarily serve as a waiver." MS Credit, 926 So.2d at ¶44. The circumstances of the instant case are hardly "ordinary" given that the Trial Court entered a scheduling order upon Spann's joint motion, Spann filed an amended complaint with multiple new allegations which essentially started the litigation anew, and the very affirmative defense in question required factual development.

In light of its determination as to the statute of limitations, the Trial Court did not feel it necessary to address the other issues in the Defendant Firm's dispositive Motion, *i.e.*, Ms. Spann's standing to bring suit on behalf of Mr. Spann and the guardianships as "wrongful death heirs" on a contract claim, nor the issue of an attorney/client relationship *vel non* prior to April 8, 1996. The very basis of Plaintiff's argument to this Court is predicated upon the existence of an attorney-client relationship between Spann and the Defendant Firm on April 8, 1996, the date the statute of limitations expired against Dr. Rawson in the underlying suit. There was no attorney/client relationship between Spann and the Defendant Firm on or before April 8, 1996. Mississippi adheres to the general rule that the formation of the attorney/client relationship requires mutual assent, evidenced by the manifestation of a client's intent that legal services be

provided to them. Hopper v. Frank, 16 F.3d 92 (5th Cir. 1994). As of April 8, 1996, Spann had absolutely no idea that the Cherry Givens firm existed, nor that they had a copy of some of the medical records. It was not until the first meeting held between Spann and an associate of the Defendant Firm on June 13, 1996, (two months after the limitations statute expired) when the Spanns were advised that a lawsuit had been filed on their behalf in order to protect their claim; that the attorneys would do what they could to try and help them; and the Spanns agreed to go forward with the claim and signed the Attorney's Fee Agreements, that the Spanns manifest intent that legal services be provided them by the Defendant Firm. In that it was impossible for Spann to have an attorney/client relationship without manifestation of intent to enter into that relationship on or about April 8, 1996, when the statute of limitations as to her underlying claim expired, no basis exists for a legal malpractice claim against the Defendant Firm. See, Wilbourn v. Stennett, Wilkinson & Ward, 687 So.2d 1205 (Miss. 1997).

For these reasons, the Trial Court's Opinion Order should be affirmed.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

In reviewing a Trial Court's ruling on Summary Judgment, including the application of a statute of limitations, this Court conducts a *de novo* review. Moss v. Batesville Casket Co., 935 So. 2d 393 (Miss. 2006); Sarris v. Smith 782 So. 2d 721 (Miss. 2001). In the Trial Court's Memorandum Opinion and Order dated November 15, 2006, from which the Spanns have filed this appeal, Judge Bobby D. DeLaughter reflected the number of cases provided by our Appellate Court with regard to the standard of review of a Trial Court's determination on Summary Judgment are legion. Judge DeLaughter thereafter reflected at length the comprehensive guidelines this Court set out in Grisham v. John Q. Long VFW Post, 519 So. 2d

413, 415 (Miss. 1988). This Appellee cannot state the standard of review more cogently or succinctly than the Trial Court reflected in its Memorandum Opinion and Order. (R. 455-457).

In determining what constitutes a genuine question of fact this Court has held that a genuine question of fact must be a material fact: "the existence of 100 contested issues of fact will not thwart summary judgment where none of them is material." <u>Grisham</u>, 519 So. 2d at 415.

B. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Finding Spann's Claims Were Barred by the Statute of Limitations

The Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi, did not err in finding Spann's claims were barred by the Statute of Limitations. Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49 governs legal malpractice claims and requires that a legal malpractice claim be filed "within three (3) years next after the cause of such action accrued, and not after." Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49. This Court has found that in a legal malpractice action, "[t]he period of limitation . . . begins to run as of the date the client learns, or through reasonable diligence should have learned of his counsel's negligence". Hymes v. McIlwain, 856 So. 2d 416 (Miss. 2003) citing Smith v. Sneed, 638 So. 2d 1252, 1253 (Miss. 1994):

This was the ground upon which the trial court found the suit untimely. Hymes was not required by the operative cause of action for professional malpractice to prove that the effect of his counsel's alleged negligence had been finally set aside. The limitation period was therefore not waiting final resolution of the criminal matter before it would begin. (¶ 13) Hymes had reason to know his attorneys acted negligently for quite some time before filing suit against them. Ineffective assistance of counsel was the basis for vacating the sentence. The Petition for Post Conviction Relief was filed in 1995 although it was not ultimately successful until 2000. At the very latest, the statute of limitations began to run in 1995 when it became apparent Hymes knew of his attorneys' deficient performance. The filing of this civil suit comes too late. (¶ 14).

Hymes, 856 So. 2d 416 (¶¶ 13, 14) (emphasis added).

Here, the alleged wrongful act/omission that gives rise to this malpractice suit is the alleged failure to name Dr. John Rawson and the Neonatal Group as defendants in the underlying wrongful death action before the applicable statute of limitations expired on April 8, 1996. The

Mississippi Supreme Court rendered its decision in Rawson v. Jones, 816 So. 2d 367 (Miss. 2001) on June 28, 2001, reversing the Trial Court's judgment and rendering a judgment that Spann take nothing on her claims against Dr. Rawson and the Neonatal Group on the grounds that these claims were time barred. Subsequent to the Supreme Court decision their ruling on June 28, 2001, the Defendant Firm contacted Spann and her husband, invited them into the office for a discussion, specifically reviewed the Court's Opinion with the Spanns, and advised that while the firm would be filing a Motion for Rehearing with the Mississippi Supreme Court, that six (6) of the nine (9) Justices had ruled against them and success on the Motion for Rehearing did not look good. (Deposition of J. Diaz, pp 95-98; R. 243-244; Deposition of P. Spann, pp 65-69; R. 271-272).

Subsequently, a Motion for Rehearing was filed on behalf of Spann in the underlying action and the Supreme Court denied that Motion for Rehearing on May 23, 2002. The following day, May 24, 2002, upon receipt of the Notice from the Supreme Court that the Motion for Rehearing had been denied, Joey Diaz phoned Spann, and advised her that the case was over, that in fact the Supreme Court had denied the Motion for Rehearing and there was nothing else that could be done.

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